RECEIVED

DEC 07 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Thomas W. Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000508
Case Nos. 2012-GS-07-1932 & 2014-GS-07-1940

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Aaron Scott Young, Jr.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jennifer K. Dunlap
F. Elliotte Quinn IV
200 Meeting St., Ste. 301
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 727-2650

Attorneys for Appellant

ARGUMENTS

Appellant's convictions for murder and attempted murder result from gross overcharging to the point of pushing the boundaries of South Carolina law beyond its breaking point. While Appellant may have committed a criminal act, for example by shooting Robinson's unoccupied vehicle, Appellant *did not* kill, *did not* proximately cause the death of, and *did not* attempt to kill anyone. Regardless, the Solicitor chose to charge Appellant with murder and attempted murder on legally tenuous and factually unsupported theories and forego charging Appellant with charges, for example destruction of property,¹ that may have a legal and factual relationship to Appellant's actions.

The State now incredibly asserts Appellant's convictions and the underlying distortion of South Carolina law are necessary given the "escalating urban warfare in present-day society." To the contrary, the State has not shown any "escalating urban warfare" necessitating a change in South Carolina law, and South Carolina law has adequately addressed, and will continue to adequately address, the public use of firearms and the death of bystanders through the felony murder, accomplice liability, and transferred intent theories of criminal liability.

Moreover, not only is there no need to recognize a mutual combat theory of murder in South Carolina, recognizing mutual combat as a stand-alone basis for a murder conviction for the death of a bystander creates legal problems as highlighted by the use of the theory in this case. The harms resulting from recognizing such a theory include:

- The theory would conflict with the requirement that a defendant proximately cause a death to be held criminally responsible for that death.

- The theory would conflict with the settled law of transferred intent which serves only to expand the malice element of a murder charge and does not serve to expand the criminal liability of one actor to include the results of another person's actions.

Not only is the State's attempt to expand South Carolina law unnecessary, ill-advised, and legally tenuous, the facts of this case fall outside the State's proposed theory of mutual combat. Thus, even were the State's theory legally valid, this is not the case to recognize such a theory. Appellant and Robinson never engaged in mutual combat on the day in question, much less engaged in mutual combat at the time Robinson fired the shot that killed Khalil. Therefore, even were South Carolina to recognize the State's mutual combat theory, Appellant could not be convicted for murder under such a theory.

To stretch the State's mutual combat theory to affirm Appellant's murder conviction would create absurd results. Were the facts of this case sufficient for a murder conviction under a mutual combat theory, a person could be convicted of murder regardless of the facts that the person's "combatant" hides to avoid actual combat, the combatant ambushes the person at a time and place of the combatant's choosing, and the passage of days, weeks, or months since the last interaction between the person and the combatant. In short, if ill-will and any violence or threat of violence occurs between a person and another, the State's theory would permit the person to be held criminally responsible for the other's violent acts at any future time or place.

The State may contend that a person should be held responsible for any criminal act that occurs as a result of his engaging in mutual combat, but the criminal law exists to punish offenders for prohibited conduct and harms that were the foreseeable result of such conduct. *See, e.g., 1 Wharton's Criminal Law* § 26 (15th ed.). Here, Appellant could not reasonably foresee that

¹ *See, e.g.,* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-510 (malicious injury to personal property).

Robinson would fire a weapon at him with children in the line of fire, and thus, even if engaged in mutual combat, the law should not hold Appellant criminally responsible for Robinson murdering Khalil. Appellant had no control over Robinson's actions, had no control over where and when Robinson chose to fire his weapon, and thus, had no control over Khalil's death.

Appellant, as seen in the videotaped interviews admitted at his trial, acknowledged that his actions were rash and expressed his anguish that Khalil died as a result of Robinson's actions. However, Robinson is the party responsible for Khalil's death, and he has been held accountable for his actions. Appellant may have acted foolishly and even criminally that day, but during the one instance when Appellant fired his weapon that day—when he shot Robinson's car—he knew that there were no children around the vehicle or in the direction he fired. (State's Ex. 38, Videos 1, 2, & 7; R. p. 635.) Robinson, however, chose to ambush Appellant resulting in Khalil's death. Robinson chose not only to fire at Appellant, but he chose the time and place at which to do so. Thus, even were the State's mutual combat theory a valid legal basis for a murder conviction, the facts of this case do not support a conviction under such a theory.

Finally, the State fails to point to any evidence from which a jury could reasonably conclude that Appellant attempted to murder Robinson. The State mischaracterizes Appellant's statements to the police as an admission that Appellant attempted to shoot Robinson on Bryant Road, but a full consideration of those statements shows Appellant clearly stated he never tried to shoot Robinson. The State also points to two statements Robinson made to witnesses on September 1, 2012, and to a 911 telephone call recording, but none of those items of evidence identify Appellant as firing a weapon at or even pointing a weapon at Robinson. Therefore, because there was no evidence that Appellant tried to fire a weapon at Robinson, there was no evidence from which a jury could

reasonably find Appellant attempted to murder Robinson and the trial court erred in denying Appellant's directed verdict motion on the attempted murder charge.

I. MUTUAL COMBAT ALONE DOES NOT SUPPORT A MURDER CONVICTION

Appellant asserts that South Carolina law *does not* recognize mutual combat as a basis for a murder conviction and South Carolina *should not* recognize mutual combat as such. The State contests both of these assertions, but the State's arguments on each ground are flawed.

Rather than supporting its contention that mutual combat is recognized in South Carolina as a basis to hold a defendant guilty for murder, and to the contrary, the decisions cited by the State show that South Carolina recognizes mutual combat only in relation to self-defense. As discussed in detail in Appellant's Brief, all of the decisions cited by the State employ mutual combat in its role as a bar on a claim of self-defense.

The State also cites decisions from other jurisdictions as supporting the recognition of a mutual combat theory in South Carolina, but does not address the distinctions between the use of mutual combat in other jurisdictions and the theory advanced here. The State also fails to address the problems with the theory applied by the trial court and advanced on appeal. Other jurisdictions use mutual combat as a relevant to establishing the elements of murder, whereas here the trial court used mutual combat as a *stand-alone* basis for a murder conviction.

The mutual combat theory used by the trial court and advanced by the State on appeal here is problematic in ways that the use of mutual combat by other jurisdictions as merely relevant to establishing the elements of murder is not. Recognizing the State's mutual combat theory would conflict with the proximate causation requirement for a murder conviction. *See, e.g., State v. Fields*, 314 S.C. 144, 146 n.1, 442 S.E.2d 181, 182 n.1 (1994) ("Where two persons combine to commit an unlawful act and in its execution a homicide is committed as a probable or natural consequence

thereof, all present and participating in the unlawful act are as guilty as the one who committed the fatal act.”); *State v. Des Champs*, 126 S.C. 416, —, 120 S.E. 491, 492 (1923) (“The law applicable in ascertaining and appraising the consequential damage resulting from such criminal act is the familiar law of proximate cause.”); *State v. McCall*, 304 S.C. 465, 469–70, 405 S.E.2d 414, 416 (Ct. App. 1991) (“Except in rare situations, a person committing an unlawful act is legally responsible for all natural or necessary consequences thereof.”), *overruled on other grounds by Brightman v. State*, 336 S.C. 348, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999). All that would be required for a murder conviction using the State’s mutual combat theory would be for two parties to engage in mutual combat and the acts of one of the two parties results in the death of a bystander. As shown by the facts of this case, this theory is problematic because it makes Appellant criminally liable for the death of a bystander even when Appellant had no control over where and when his alleged combatant fired and was not able to reasonably foresee that his alleged combatant would fire his weapon with children in the line of fire.

The State’s mutual combat theory is also problematic due to its misapplication of the doctrine of transferred intent. Under the State’s theory, the doctrine of transferred intent is absorbed into the mutual combat theory so that a mutual combatant is responsible for any death of a bystander resulting from his combatant’s actions. However, the doctrine of transferred intent operates so that “the actor’s intent to kill his intended victim is said to be transferred to his actual victim.” *State v. Horne*, 282 S.C. 444, 446, 319 S.E.2d 703, 704 (1984). Thus, the doctrine of transferred intent operates to constructively shift an actor’s malice, not as a doctrine for holding an actor criminally liable for the acts of another person.

Because South Carolina does not recognize mutual combat as a basis for a murder conviction, the recognition of mutual combat as a basis for a murder charge conflicts with South Carolina law,

and South Carolina law already addresses the death of a bystander, the Court should not recognize mutual combat as a basis for Appellant's conviction and should reverse Appellant's murder conviction.

II. THERE WAS NO MUTUAL COMBAT

Even could mutual combat support a murder conviction under South Carolina law, no evidence was presented at trial from which a jury could find Appellant and Robinson engaged in mutual combat. As acknowledged by the State, for mutual combat to exist: (1) the parties must have a mutual intent and willingness to fight, (2) the parties must be armed with deadly weapons, and (3) the parties must engage in mutual combat with deadly weapons. (State's Resp. at 24; Appellant's Br. at 13.) No evidence was introduced at trial to establish that these requirements for mutual combat existed at any time on September 1, 2012, as shown by considering the evidence presented as to each of the four incidents of that day.

A. Wild Horse Road Incident

During the first incident at Appellant's home on Wild Horse Road, Robinson confronted Appellant and his father with a pistol, but there was no evidence of any of the three elements required for mutual combat. First, there was *no* evidence that Robinson intended to and was willing to engage in mutual combat with Appellant or his father at that time. Rather, the only evidence presented was that Robinson exited the vehicle with a pistol, approached Appellant, was "argumentative" and "loud and cussing," (R. p. 377), and after regaining control of the gun from Appellant's father and firing at his feet, Robinson drove away rather seeking combat with Appellant (R. pp. 363-364). The State offers nothing further as evidence to show Robinson had an intent and willingness to engage in mutual combat. (State's Br. at 25.) There also was *no* evidence that Appellant intended to or was willing to fight with Robinson. Rather, the evidence showed only that

Appellant was standing in his yard as Robinson approached him, and the State presents nothing further. (State's Br. at 25.)

Second, there was *no* evidence that Appellant, or anyone other than Robinson, was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of this incident.

Third, there was *no* evidence that Appellant engaged in mutual combat with Robinson. Robinson approached Appellant with a pistol, Appellant's father interceded and wrestled with Robinson for control of the gun, Robinson gained control of the gun, and Robinson fired at Appellant's father's feet and fled. (R. pp. 362-378.) There is no evidence that Appellant and Robinson ever came into physical contact with or fired at the other, and the State fails to point to any such evidence. (State's Br. at 25.)

B. Bryant Road

There also was no evidence of mutual combat on Bryant Road. First, when Appellant arrived on Bryant Road, Robinson fled. (State's Ex. 38, Video 7; R. p. 635.) Robinson fleeing indicates he did *not* intend to and was *not* willing to engage in mutual combat with Appellant. Second, Appellant and Robinson did not engage in combat on Bryant Road. There is no evidence that the two, or any other person, made physical contact with or fired at the other. The State fails to point to any evidence to the contrary. (State's Br. at 25.)

C. First Allen Road Incident

Similarly, there was no evidence of mutual combat at the first incident on Allen Road. First, *no* evidence was introduced to show that Robinson was even present when Appellant fired his weapon at Robinson's car. With Robinson not present at the scene, there is no evidence that he intended to or was willing to engage in combat with Appellant at that location and time.

Second, there was *no* evidence that Appellant and Robinson engaged in combat during the

first incident on Allen Road. Again, Robinson was not present, and Appellant fired only at Robinson's vehicle. The State fails to point to any other evidence as showing mutual combat at that time. (State's Br. at 26.)

D. Second Allen Road Incident

For the second incident on Allen Road, when Robinson fired from an unobserved position at the corner of Allen Road and Marshland Road and his bullet struck and killed Khalil, there was no evidence of mutual combat. First, there was no evidence that Appellant was even aware that Robinson was present at the intersection of Allen Road and Marshland Road, and Robinson fired at Appellant's father's vehicle from a hidden position. Therefore, while Robinson may have been willing to ambush from a hidden position, Robinson did not intend to and was not willing to engage in combat with Appellant.

Second, Appellant and Robinson did not engage in mutual combat during this incident. Robinson fired at Appellant's father's truck from a hidden position as it was driving away from Allen Road. Appellant did not fire at Robinson at this time. Again, the State fails to point to any other evidence to satisfy the missing elements of mutual combat. (State's Br. at 26.)

E. There Was No Mutual Combat at Any Other Time on September 1, 2012

The State points to two items of evidence—Robinson's statement to Delaney and a 911 telephone call—presumably to support an argument that there is evidence that at some time on September 1, 2012, other than the four incidents discussed above, Robinson and Appellant engaged in mutual combat. (State's Br. at 26.) However, as discussed in relation to the attempted murder charge, these two items of evidence do not establish that Appellant fired a weapon at or otherwise engaged in mutual combat with Robinson.

Robinson told Delaney: "[Y]eah they was shootin at me so I shoot back at them." (R. p. 333.)

Robinson never identified who “they” was. He did reference a grey truck and Appellant’s father’s truck was grey, but Robinson did not identify the grey truck as Appellant’s father’s truck and did not identify who in a grey truck fired at him. Robinson also did not state when “they” allegedly shot at him. The evidence presented at trial indicated there had been previous incidents between Robinson and Appellant, and Robinson’s statement to Delaney does not provide any indication as to whether he was referring to shots fired at him on September 1, 2012, or on some previous day. One logical interpretation, consistent with the evidence presented at trial, is that someone in or connected to Appellant’s father’s truck fired a weapon at Robinson on a previous date, and Robinson’s aggression and firing a pistol on Wild Horse Road on September 1, 2012, were in response to the earlier event.

F. There Was Not One Continuous Instance of Mutual Combat

The State may suggest that the four incidents during the afternoon of September 1, 2012, constitute one continuous mutual combat between Appellant and Robinson. If this is the State’s position, it too is unavailing. For there to be mutual combat, there must have been some point in time at which all three elements of mutual combat contemporaneously existed. To the contrary and as discussed previously, at no point in time were Robinson and Appellant both willing to engage one another in combat, both armed, and actually engaged in combat. At every point in time that afternoon, one or more of these elements were missing. Most importantly, at no point in time did Robinson ever exhibit an intent or willingness to engage in combat with Appellant. At all times, Robinson was only willing to attack when the attack could not result in mutual combat, *i.e.*, on Wild Horse Road, Appellant and his father were not armed and Robinson fled before they could obtain a weapon, and on Allen Road, Robinson attacked from a hidden position as Appellant and his father drove away. Therefore, there was no point in time at which mutual combat could have begun and continued from, and thus, there cannot have been one continuous instance of mutual combat.

III. THE END OF MUTUAL COMBAT AS A BASIS FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT WAS PRESERVED

Appellant preserved as a basis for a reversal the argument that any mutual combat had ended at the time Robinson fired the fatal shot and thus the trial court erred in not granting Appellant a directed verdict on the murder charge.

To preserve an error at trial, a party must raise the issue to and obtain a ruling from the trial court. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). However, the issue preservation rule does not require a party to use a specific phrase or exact legal terminology to raise an issue to the trial court. *See, e.g., S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 302, 641 S.E.2d 902, 907 (2007) (finding argument preserved despite not being phrased “in the exact terms” used on appeal because the objection was stated at trial with “sufficient specificity to allow the trial court to rule on the issue”); *State v. Russell*, 345 S.C. 128, 132, 546 S.E.2d 202, 204 (Ct. App. 2001) (finding argument preserved despite failure to use exact words in objecting because it was clear from the record that the argument was made on that ground). A party preserves an issue for appeal whenever the trial judge would have been reasonably able to understand the nature of the error alleged. *See, e.g., Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 466, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (“[T]he issue must be sufficiently clear to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the judge.”).

In support of his motion for a directed verdict on the murder charge, Appellant raised the argument that to the extent there was any mutual combat, it ended before Robinson fired the fatal shot:

- Appellant argued there was “no evidence of mutual combat” (R. p. 512) and “no evidence of back and forth or a running gun battle or any kind of mutual combat” (R. p. 512), thus

arguing there was no mutual combat at the time Robinson fired the fatal shot.

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