STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County
Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 30 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

V.

AARON SCOTT YOUNG, JR.,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2015-000508

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MARGARET G. BOYKIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101017
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Circuit
P.O. Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

"Cause at the end of the day, Y'all still don't got T's shit...T's shit is a revolver, man. That's the most important gun. Fuck a automatic and a hand gun is nothing 'cause it automatically drop shells. But nigga if he got a revolver, how the fuck y'all gonna get his gun casings? ...You know how many people done got hit with a nine millimeter and ain't die, but bitch you get hit with a 38 your ass is dead."

(State's Ex. 38, Intro Video at 2:55-3:39)

Furthermore, the State produced circumstantial evidence that Appellant knew Robinson was armed. Jontu testified that Robinson approached Appellant with a gun in his hand off Wild Horse Road. (R.p. 362, lines 2-22). Robinson then fired the gun twice in front of Appellant. (R.p. 362, lines 2-22).

Natural Consequences

Additionally, the State presented direct evidence Appellant knew Khalil and the other children were playing outside. During Appellant's interview, he admitted multiple times to engaging in a gun fight with children present:

“We came down the road. There was children outside playing already...” (State's Ex. 38, Video 1 at 00:11-00:28); **“The little children was the ones who saw us 'cause they was pointing at us...they was pointing at us...I saw the trampoline and all, that's the crazy thing about it”** (State's Ex. 38, Video 1 at 1:10-1:16); **“In order to ride up the road, you gotta pass by the children”** (State's Ex. 38, Video 1 at 1:39-1:41).

While discussing seeing the children, Appellant stated, **“We got there and all hell broke loose”** (State's Ex. 38, Video 1 at 00:34-00:37). This evidence clearly demonstrated that Appellant was aware that innocent bystanders were in the vicinity. But this fact did not stop Appellant from continuing the conflict with Robinson. Accordingly, it is reasonable to presume Appellant knew the natural consequences of his actions could lead to Khalil's death.

In conclusion, overwhelming direct and circumstantial evidence was presented to the jury tending to prove Appellant was engaged in mutual combat with Robinson. The State introduced evidence Appellant and Robinson had a mutual intent to fight, they had ill-will between each other, and both came to the fight armed and knew the other to be armed. The elements of mutual combat have clearly been established. Thus, the trial court did not abuse his discretion in denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict on the murder charge, and this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling.

C. This issue is not preserved for review since Appellant did not request a directed verdict on the basis of a withdrawal from mutual combat, but also, there was no evidence presented at trial that Appellant had withdrawn from the mutual combat that would warrant a directed verdict.

As a preliminary matter, it appears from a review of the trial record that this issue is not preserved for review. Appellant only discussed the end of mutual combat when he requested a jury instruction on the law after he had already argued his motion for a directed verdict. The judge properly denied the request for such an instruction, which is discussed further in Issue II. Even so, this argument is easily dispatched as there was no evidence that Appellant withdrew from the conflict.

In reviewing a denial of directed verdict, issues not raised to the trial court in support of the directed verdict motion are not preserved for appellate review. *State v. Kennerly*, 503 S.E.2d 214, 221 (S.C. App. 1998), aff'd, 524 S.E.2d 837 (S.C. 1999); *State v. Jordan*, 255 S.C. 86, 177 S.E.2d 464 (1970). A defendant cannot argue on appeal an issue in support of his directed verdict motion when the issue was not presented to the trial court below. *See State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“A party cannot argue one ground for a directed verdict in trial and then an alternative ground on appeal.”). Here, Appellant did not argue that the mutual combat ended when he made a motion for a directed verdict. The trial judge only had the opportunity to consider this issue when Appellant asked for a jury charge on the law of withdrawal. Therefore, Appellant is barred from asserting this point as a basis for a directed verdict in his appeal.

Regardless, Appellant would not be entitled to relief even if he raised this issue at trial. In order to bring mutual combat to an end, one of the combatants must withdraw from the conflict

in good faith and make that fact known to his adversary. *Graham*, 260 S.C. at 451, 196 S.E.2d at 495–96. Here, there was no evidence presented at trial that would allow for the jury or the judge to deduce that Appellant withdrew from the conflict. This matter is discussed in much greater detail in Issue II. Appellant’s action of driving away after firing multiple bullets into Robinson’s car must be taken in context with entire conflict. The chain of events that unfolded on September 1, 2012, included numerous instances of Appellant and Robinson driving to and away from multiple locations. Appellant’s other comings and goings were not viewed as withdrawals because they were simply in furtherance of his pursuit of Robinson. This instance should not be viewed as any different. Also, Appellant’s recorded statements that were published to the jury directly show he did not intend to withdraw. When Appellant was discussing his driving away after firing shots into Robinson’s car, he stated, “**the dude knew we were gonna come back for him**”. (State’s Ex. 38, Video 1 at 1:10). Also, Appellant stated he told his father “**man, turn around**” after he heard Robinson’s gun shots. (State’s Ex. 38, Video 3 at 00:45). Both of these statements undoubtedly show Appellant’s intent was not to withdraw but to continue fighting. Thus, Appellant’s own words completely contradict his assertion that he withdrew from the conflict.

Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. The result would be the same had the issue been preserved because there was no evidence presented at trial that tended to prove he withdrew in good faith from the combat. This issue is without merit and must be dismissed.

II. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in denying Appellant's request to charge withdrawal from mutual combat because no evidence existed to support such a charge.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in denying Appellant's request for a jury charge on the end of mutual combat¹². This claim is not supported by a review of the trial record. Absolutely no evidence was produced at trial tending to show that Appellant withdrew from the combat in good faith. Thus, Appellant was not entitled to a jury charge on withdrawal from mutual combat and the judge did not abuse his discretion in declining to give such an instruction.

Discussion

Motion for Jury Charge

After Appellant's directed verdict motion was denied, Appellant then requested a jury instruction on the ending of mutual combat. According to Appellant, the actions of Appellant and Young, Sr. driving down the road after shooting Robinson's car constituted an end to the mutual combat. Essentially, Appellant's position was that driving away should be viewed as a withdrawal from the conflict. The judge found there was no evidence of a withdrawal that would warrant such an instruction and denied Appellant's request. In explaining his reasoning, the judge stated:

The case law in mutual combat and ending a mutual combat requires that the ending of the combat and the breaking off be clear and unequivocal; that it be more than just an escape or trying to avoid the consequences of the continuing battle. This battle had been back and forth...

...I'm not thinking that they were necessarily at that point in time breaking off the combat, they were just going to live to fight another day because he was not there and he was not there to carry it on and they left, or they were leaving at the time the fatal shots occurred.

¹² Appellant uses the language "ending mutual combat" in his argument. However, mutual combat case law uses the term "withdraw" when discussing this issue. *See Graham*, 260 S.C. at 451, 196 S.E.2d at 495-96. Therefore, Respondent shall use "withdraw" when addressing Appellant's argument on "ending mutual combat".

I don't think leaving the scene under those circumstances indicates clear and unequivocally the breaking off of this given the extent of the chase and the level that they had gone to try to get him before then is unlikely that the shooting of the car and then leaving is a signal that they have chosen at this point in time to fold their tents and move away and that the battle is over and truce has been declared.

I don't think that the retreat ends it. I don't think that there is a clear and unequivocal breaking of the conflict such that the law requires to indicate that the mutual combat no longer exists.

(R.p. 519, line 18 – p. 521, line 10)

Standard of Review

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Consequently, an appellate court is bound by the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* “An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166 (2008). If there is any evidence to support a charge, the circuit court should grant the request. *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 549-550, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011); *State v. Brown*, 362 S.C. 258, 262, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 2004). “The purpose of a jury instruction is 'to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict. It is error to give instructions which are calculated to confuse or mislead the jury.’” *State v. Blurton*, 352 S.C. 203, 207-208, 573 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2002) (quoting *State v. Leonard*, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987)). Specifically, “providing instructions to the jury which do not fit the facts of the case may tend to confuse the jury.” *State v. Lee*, 298 S.C. 362, 364, 380 S.E.2d 834, 836 (1989). Here, there was no abuse of discretion, and no error in rejecting the request to charge, as the request was not warranted on the facts.

Analysis

“Where a person voluntarily participates in mutual combat for purposes other than protection, he cannot justify or excuse the killing of his adversary in the course of such conflict

on the ground of self-defense, regardless of what extremity or imminent peril he may be reduced to in the progress of the combat, unless, before the homicide is committed, he **withdraws and endeavors in good faith to decline further conflict, and**, either by word or act, **makes that fact known to his adversary.**”; *State v. Bryant*, 336 S.C. 340, 345, 520 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1999). Thus, two elements must be satisfied in order to successfully withdraw from mutual combat. Here, neither of these elements have been met.

Appellant argues that he withdrew from the conflict when he drove away from the scene, thereby ending the mutual combat. However, the key component to withdrawal from a conflict is that it must be done in **good faith**. In order to actually withdraw in good faith from a conflict, the aggressor must have truly desired to withdraw from or abandon the conflict, and must not have merely paused in his assault. *Comment Note: Withdrawal, After Provocation of Conflict, As Reviving Right Of Self-Defense*, 55 A.L.R.3d 1000, 1003 (1974). Thus, there is no withdrawal where he simply steps back to assume a better strategic position or if he leaves and then returns to the scene with the same threatening or hostile intentions. *Id.* An aggressor does not abandon a conflict if he merely leaves to obtain a weapon, to wait for his adversary in ambush elsewhere, or because he is convinced that he has disabled or killed his adversary. *Id.*

Although South Carolina case law maintains that a withdrawal must be done in good faith, it does not specifically address what constitutes a “good faith withdrawal”. However, other states have addressed this very issue. In addressing this issue, the Supreme Court of Missouri explained the difference between a good faith withdrawal and a mere retreat. “There is a wide difference between a withdrawal and a mere retreat. A retreat may be and often is a continuance of hostilities. A withdrawal is the abandonment of the struggle by one of the parties, and such

abandonment must be perceived by the other.” *State v. Heath*, 237 Mo. 255, 141 S.W. 26, 29 (1911).

Additionally, the Kentucky Court of Appeals in *Hellard v. Commonwealth* rejected the defendant’s assertion that he withdrew from the combat in good faith. *Hellard v. Commonwealth*, 84 S.W. 329, 329 (Ky. 1905). The court held, “A retreat is not necessarily an abandonment. It may be only the falling back on a better position, or for strategic reasons, with intention to continue the battle when the advantage warranted it.” *Id.* Also, the Supreme Court of Louisiana, in *State v Kellogg*, analyzed the reinstatement of a claim of self-defense if the defendant withdrew from the combat in good faith. *State v. Kellogg*, 29 So. 285 (La. 1901). The court stated that self-defense could not be asserted under the basis of withdrawal if the conduct was “a mere momentary cessation of hostilities, with no bona fide, clearly expressed intention to withdraw from the conflict”. *Id.* at 291.

Here, there was certainly no evidence presented at trial that indicated Appellant withdrew or desired to withdraw from the conflict in good faith. Appellant’s act of driving away moments after firing multiple bullets into Robinson’s car was not a desire to end the fighting. Appellant’s actions were not a withdrawal or a retreat, but a continuation of the hunt for Robinson. His act of driving away must be viewed in relation to the whole incident. The entire conflict revolved around Appellant and Robinson chasing after each other. Appellant traveled down numerous roads and made many stops in his search for Robinson. These other comings and goings were not withdrawals but rather mere continuations of Appellant’s pursuit of Robinson. Appellant’s act of driving down the road after shooting Robinson’s vehicle should not be viewed as any different.

Additionally, Appellant’s statements introduced at trial further support that he did not withdraw in good faith. During the interview with law enforcement, Appellant disclosed that

after hearing Robinson shoot at Young, Sr.'s truck, he told his father, **“man turn around”**. (State's Ex. 38, Video 3 at 00:45). Also, when discussing driving away after shooting Robinson's car, Appellant told investigators, **“The dude knew we were gonna come back for him. He already knew. I know he knew. Cause he know me. I don't play like that.”** (State's Ex. 38, Video 1 at 1:10). Appellant's admissions that he intended to return to the fight directly refute any intent to withdraw.

Assuming Appellant intended to withdraw, which the evidence suggests otherwise, neither his words nor actions communicated this intent to Robinson. The Court in *Graham* explained that a withdrawal must be “communicated to the victim by word or act”. 260 S.C. at 451, 196 S.E.2d at 496. Appellant did not attempt to verbally communicate a desire to end the conflict with Robinson. Moreover, Appellant's act of driving down the road would not have been reasonably interpreted by Robinson that Appellant intended to cease fighting. As stated above, the conflict included multiple instances of driving to and from different locations that did not amount to a withdrawal. It would be unreasonable to assume Robinson viewed this instance as anything different.

Therefore, since Appellant did not withdraw from the conflict in good faith or inform Robinson of an intended withdrawal, a jury instruction on the ending of mutual combat would be improper.

As stated above, a judge's refusal to give a requested charge will not be reversed unless appellant shows an abuse of discretion. *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010). Here, there was no abuse of discretion, and no error in rejecting the request to charge, as the request was not warranted on the facts. If, however, any error did occur, such error would be harmless in light of the remainder of the charge and specifically the carefully

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